1980

Donald H. Meyers, And Engineering Enterprises, Inc., dba Intermountain Aerial Survey : Brief of Appellant Skychoppers of Colorado : Brief of Appellant Skychoppers of Colorado

Utah Supreme Court

NATURE OF CASE

This is an action by plaintiffs to recover damages for personal injuries allegedly sustained by the plaintiff Donald H. Meyers and for loss of his services and other expenses allegedly incurred by the corporate plaintiff Engineering Enterprises, Inc.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

The plaintiffs brought this action against three defendants, i.e., Interwest Corporation, Skychoppers of Utah and Skychoppers of Colorado. The first two defendants answered plaintiffs' complaint. The latter defendant, Skychoppers of Colorado, appeared specially and moved to quash the process served

upon it in the State of Colorado. The plaintiffs moved the court for an order permitting them to amend the process in question, which had already been served upon Skychoppers of Colorado. The trial court denied this defendant's motion to quash and granted plaintiffs' motion to amend.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

This interlocutory appeal involves only the defendant Skychoppers of Colorado which seeks a reversal of the trial court orders to the effect that the trial court be ordered to deny plaintiffs' motion to amend process and to grant this defendant motion to quash the process served upon it.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

This action arises out of a helicopter accident which occurred in the State of Colorado on August 8, 1974 (R. 3, pages 4 & 5). Plaintiffs filed a complaint against all defendants on August 7, 1978 (R. 2), which was served on Skychoppers of Colorado in the State of Colorado on August 15, 1978 (R. 10). The summons served upon Skychoppers of Colorado provided that the complaint attached thereto be answered within twenty (20) days (R. 9), rather than thirty (30) days as required by Section 78-27-27, U.C.A., as amended.

On April 7, 1980, Skychoppers of Colorado appeared specifically in this action by filing a motion to quash the process served

it for the reason that said process did not comply with the jurisdictional requirements of Section 78-27-27, U.C.A., 1953, as amended (R. 11). A hearing on said motion was held before the Honorable Bryant H. Croft, District Judge, on April 11, 1980 (R. 14). At the time of said hearing, plaintiffs filed a motion for leave to amend the process which previously had been served upon this defendant (R. 15-16).

On April 14, 1980, Judge Croft entered orders, in the form of a memorandum decision (R. 17), denying Skychoppers of Colorado's motion to quash the process served upon it and granting plaintiffs' motion to amend the summons, which had already been served, to show 30 days rather than 20 days at the time for answering, and gave this defendant 30 days thereafter in which to answer the complaint.

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN PERMITTING THE AMENDMENT OF A SUMMONS PREVIOUSLY SERVED, WHICH WAS AN ACCOMPLISHED AND COMPLETED ACT.

This Court has previously distinguished the difference between amending a return to show what was actually done in effecting service of process, and attempting to retroactively amend the process itself. In Redwood Land Company v. Kimball, 20 Utah 2d 113, 433 P.2d 1010 (1967), this Court granted a petition for an interlocutory appeal to review an order of the trial court denying a motion to quash service of summons because the proof of

service thereof was not made until eight days after the service rather than within five days as required by Rule 4(g), U.R.C.P. The trial court held that the defect in the filing of the "return" was not jurisdictional and this Court affirmed, but in so doing noted the difference between a defect in the proof of service and a defect in the service itself, in the following language:

"We are in accord with the view adopted by the trial court in denying the motion: That the defect she complains of is not jurisdictional. It is with respect to the correctness of the summons itself, and the due service, which notifies the defendant that he is being sued, and by which jurisdiction over him is required, that there must be strict compliance. See 42 Am. Jur. 39; Utah Sand and Gravel Products Corp. v. Tolbert, 16 Utah 2d 407, 402 P.2d 703. However, proof of the fact that such service has been made, also referred to as the 'return' of the summons, is something of a different character. Its only purpose is to supply the information to the court, the interested parties and their attorneys, that the defendant has been so served. (Authorities cited)

* * *

"When the procedure proscribed for the acquisition of jurisdiction of the defendant has been properly carried out, that is, when there has been a correct service of a proper summons, a mistake or irregularity of the kind shown here in the proof of service does not destroy the validity of the service itself." (Emphasis added.)

In the case at bar, there was not correct service of a proper summons, since, as set forth in the following point, the summons incorrectly stated the statutorily prescribed time period for answering the Complaint attached thereto. Therefore, the

trial court erred in permitting the plaintiffs to "amend" a summons which had been issued, served and returned some twenty months earlier.

In their motion to amend the process, plaintiffs make the absurd statement "That the granting of plaintiffs' Motion to Amend would in no way prejudice the rights of the defendant, Skychoppers of Colorado." (R. 16, para. 5). This defendant had not been served with a proper summons prior to the expiration of the applicable four-year statute of limitation^{1/} and, therefore, was not subject to any liability in this action. By allowing plaintiffs to amend the service of process (an act which had already taken place), the trial court effectively extended the statute of limitations in this action. The complaint in this matter was filed on the last day before the controlling four-year statute of limitation ran. A new complaint cannot now be filed; and a new summons cannot now be issued on the original complaint, since such issuance would not be within three months as required by Rule 4(b) U.R.C.P. See, Fiberboard Paper Products Corp. v. Dietrich, 25 Utah 2d 65, 475 P.2d 1005 (1970); Cook v. Starkley, 548 P.2d 1268 (Utah 1976). It is difficult to conceive of a more prejudicial situation than having a statute of limitation period extended after it has run.

^{1/} Section 78-12-25, U.C.A., 1953, as amended.

In Utah Sand & Gravel Products v. Tolbert, 16 Utah 2d 407, 402 703 (1965), the court made the following observations regarding our rules of civil procedure:

"It is true that our new rules of civil procedure were intended to eliminate undue emphasis on technicalities and to provide liberality in procedure to the end that disputes be heard and determined on their merits. However, this does not mean that procedure before the courts has become entirely 'without form and void.' The law itself is a system of rules designed to safeguard rights and preserve order, and administration of justice under it must necessarily be carried on with some degree of order. This can be accomplished only by compliance with the rules established for that purpose. Liberality in their interpretation and application should be indulged where no prejudice or disadvantage to anyone results, but where failure to comply with the rules will result in some substantial prejudice or disadvantage to a party, they should be adhered to with fidelity."^{2/} (Emphasis added.)

POINT II

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING
TO QUASH THE SUMMONS WHICH HAD
BEEN SERVED UPON THIS DEFENDANT
SINCE IT IMPROPERLY DESIGNATED
THE TIME REQUIREMENT FOR ANSWERING.

While the case of Winters v. Hughes, 3 Utah 443, 24 Pac. (1861), may be of more historical interest than anything else,

2/

In support of this principal, the court footnoted the following cases: Taylor v. E. M. Royle Corp., 1 Utah 2d 175, 264 P.2d 279 (1953); and Holton v. Holton, 121 Utah 451, 243 P.2d 438 (1952); Thomas v. District Court, 110 Utah 245, 171 P.2d 667 (1946); Glasmann v. 2nd Dist. Ct., 80 Utah 1, 12 P.2d 361 (1946).

does show that this Court long ago established the legal requirement that a summons must properly set forth the time and place the defendant is required to answer or defend the charge being made against him. In dicta the court there observed:

". . . it is unnecessary to consider whether the court erred in overruling the motion to quash the writ, and we only do so for the purpose of settling the practice. Section 2 of the Revised Laws provides 'that when a complaint is filed the court shall issue to the defendant a notice containing a copy of the complaint, and the time and place for the investigation thereof.' Rev. Laws, 133. . . . The legislature can prescribe the manner in which a party may be brought into court, and the method pointed out by law must be substantially followed. Neither time nor place is mentioned, and both are essential under the statute to constitute legal notice to the defendant. 'Ten days after the return' is too vague and indefinite, and is really equivalent to leaving the time blank, for how is the defendant to know when the officer makes his return?

* * *

"We have no hesitation in saying that the court erred in overruling the motion to dismiss the writ. If the defendant had appeared and pleaded without first interposing the motion, the case would be entirely different, but such was not the fact, and his motion was well taken."

More recently this Court has held in several cases that all statutory requirements of the issuance and service of summons must be properly complied with in order to obtain jurisdiction over a defendant. In Murdock v. Blake, 26 Utah 2d 22, 484 P.2d 164 (1971), the court stated:

"Service of summons in conformance with the mode prescribed by statute is deemed jurisdictional, for it is service of process, not actual knowledge of the commencement of the action, which confers jurisdiction. Otherwise, a defendant could never object to the sufficiency of service of process, since he must have knowledge of the suit to make such objection. The proper issuance and service of summons is the means of invoking the jurisdiction of the court and of acquiring jurisdiction over the defendant; these cannot be supplanted by mere notice by letter, telephone or any other such means."

The "other such means" must obviously include service of a summons not in conformity with statutory requirements. See, Rees v. Scott, 8 Utah 2d 134, 329 P.2d 877 (1958) regarding the failure of the serving officer to endorse the date of service on the copy of the summons he left with the defendant.

This Court has previously addressed this exact issue in Martin v. Nelson, 533 P.2d 897 (Utah 1975), in which the Court reversed a judgment based on a falsified return and because the summons served on the California defendant required answering within 20 rather than 30 days. The return was conclusively shown to be false in that it indicated that the officer which served the summons in the State of California had endorsed the date and place of service together with signing his name on the summons, the copy of the summons actually served on the defendant showed such representation to be false. This Court held as follows:

"Service of process here was defective, not only because of the false return, but because it required answer in 20 days instead of 30 days. Such service is jurisdictional. Defendant, as was his right, appeared specially and raised the point.

"The case is remanded with instruction to vacate the judgment and let the parties take it from there." (Emphasis added.)

Other courts which have had occasion to address the issue have likewise held that statutory requirements regarding the time for answering must be strictly complied with. In Vanover v. Vanover, 307 P.2d 117 (Wyo. 1957), a summons was issued and served upon the defendant requiring an answer the first Monday after its date, rather than the second, third or fourth Monday after its date as required by statute. In reversing judgment for the plaintiff, the court held:

"The return day of the summons is thus made of special importance as it is from that day the time is computed to determine the day on or before which the defendant is required to act and it also limits the time within which legal service of that process may be made. To permit a plaintiff to transgress these statutes by having the summons specify the return day as the first Monday rather than the second, third, or fourth Monday for its return after issuance, as the case may require it, would leave the date of defendant's answer to the whim of a plaintiff and allow plaintiff to flaunt an express law of this state. This may not be done. In consequence the summons issued April 27, 1955, was defective and could not give the court jurisdiction of the person of the defendant even though it was timely served upon the defendant personally, as appears by the return."

In a later decision, the same court held that a one day miscalculation of when an answer was required in a service by publication was defective. Emery v. Emery, 404 P.2d 745 (Wyo. 1965) at 748:

"While counsel for appellant-wife has not urged the matter, we think we should call attention to the fact that the record presented to us discloses a further fatal defect in the service on Mrs. Emery. The proof of publication reflects that the last date of publication was July 18, 1961. According to the published notice, defendant was required to answer by August 16, 1961. Consequently, only 29 days were allowed for answer following the last day of publication, instead of 30 days as provided for by Rule 12(a), W.R.C.P.

"This exact situation was present in National Supply Company v. Chittim, supra, and we there held the defect fatal to the jurisdiction of the court. See at 387 P.2d 1012."

Similarly, in Van Gundy v. Ellis, et al., 246 F.Supp. 802 (U.S.D.C. S.D. Iowa 1965), the court noted regarding this issue:

"Furthermore, the plaintiff's process incorrectly stated the time of required appearance. It has been held that this error in itself is sufficient to label a process defective. Fernekes & Bros. v. Case, 75 Iowa 152, 39 N.W. 238 (1888). Thus, the first service of process upon W. M. Tynan & Co. was defective. Moreover, it was insufficient to toll any applicable statute of limitations. Burkhardt v. Bates, 191 F. Supp. 149 (N.D. Iowa 1961); Fernekes & Bros. v. Case, supra." (Emphasis added.)

POINT III

SKYCHOPPERS OF COLORADO NEVER
WAIVED SERVICE OF A PROPER SUMMONS
AND THERE IS NO DEFENSE TO LACK
OF JURISDICTION.

The trial court in its memorandum decision of April 14, 1980 (R. 17) made the following statement of facts, apparently in justification of its denial of this defendant's motion to quash the process served upon it.

"Said summons was served on Skycroppers [sic] on August 8, 1978 and no answer or default certificate has ever been filed. Defendant's motion to quash was filed April 7, 1980 -- some 20 months after service. The court denies the motion to quash and grants plaintiffs' motion to amend the summons."

However, the lower court gives no expression of a legal theory or doctrine arising from said facts which would support its denial of defendant's motion to quash.

Also, the plaintiffs in their motion to amend the summons (R. 15-16) make no allegation that defendant did anything which would constitute a waiver of its right to contest jurisdiction of the court over it. In fact, plaintiffs allege only that they have never demanded an answer. They make no claim that the defendant ever represented it would not contest jurisdiction. Plaintiffs do state in their motion:

"Service of process was made on August 15, 1978; and plaintiffs since that time have extended to defendants through its insurer time within which to answer in that no answer would be required so long as negotiations for settlement were pending." (R. 16, para. 2)

However, as a matter of fact, no settlement negotiations have ever been commenced. While it is impossible to cite a negative fact in the record, plaintiffs must acknowledge in their responding brief that neither during the four-year period between the time of the accident and when suit was commenced, nor during the twenty-month period after suit was filed until defendant moved to quash the summons, did plaintiffs ever make an offer of settlement to this or the other defendants in this action.

Consequently, plaintiffs can complain of no conduct on the part of this defendant which has in any way prejudiced them. In fact, it was the plaintiffs who did not file their complaint until the day before the four-year statute of limitation period ran and thereby incurred the risk that an out-of-state process server may not effect proper service and that such fact may not be discovered until it was too late to issue another summons under Rule 4(b); U.R.C.P. Fiberboard Paper Products Corp. v. Dietrich, supra; Cook v. Starkley, supra.

The lower court decision seems to infer some affirmative duty on the part of the defendant to have brought its motion to quash earlier, but cites no legal doctrine to support such an inference. However, because of the fact that plaintiffs waited

until the day before the statute of limitation ran before filing their complaint and since the summons must issue within three months after the complaint is filed, the same result would obtain if defendant's motion to quash had been brought ninety-one days after the improper service had issued. After that date, November 7, 1978, there is nothing plaintiffs could have done to remedy the defective summons which had been issued, even if such fact had come to their attention.

Since it is not contended that this defendant did anything to waive the requirement that personal jurisdiction must be obtained over it by the service of a proper summons upon it, the lower court erred in not granting its motion to quash. As stated in Rees v. Scott, supra, a defendant has no burden of showing it was misled by an improper summons as a prerequisite to bringing a motion to quash such summons. This Court therein stated:

"We see no merit in the contention that the defendant has the burden to allege and prove that he was misled by the defect. The trial court properly granted the motion to quash."

CONCLUSION

The record, as noted above, clearly demonstrates that the summons served upon this defendant did not comply with the requirements of the "Utah Long Arm Statute."^{3/} The record is also devoid of any waiver of such requirements by the defendant. Consequently,

^{3/} Section 78-27-27, U.C.A., 1953, as amended.

defendant's motion to quash the process served upon it in the State of Colorado should have been granted. Likewise, the lower court erred in permitting plaintiffs to "amend" the summons which had been issued, served and returned twenty months earlier.

All facts giving rise to the problem here presented, i.e. filing the complaint one day before expiration of the applicable statute of limitation, drafting the summons requiring an answer in twenty rather than thirty days, indefinitely extending the time for answering (which went beyond the ninety days wherein a correct summons could have been reissued) and never making a settlement offer in over five and one-half years after the accident occurred (which caused defendant to attempt to conclude the matter by litigation and thereby discover the defective service) were generated by and were under the control of the plaintiffs. It would be unjust to now require this defendant to appear and defend a lawsuit which was never properly served upon it during the applicable period of limitation for bringing such an action.

WHEREFORE, the defendant Skychoppers of Colorado respectfully prays that the orders of the trial court be reversed and that the summons which was served upon this defendant be quashed and deemed null and void.