Brigham Young University Law School BYU Law Digital Commons

Utah Supreme Court Briefs (1965 –)

1980

Donald H. Meyers, And Engineering Enterprises, Inc., dba Intermountain Aerial Survey: Brief of Appellant Skychoppers of Colorado: Brief of Plaintiffs-Respondents Donald H. Meyers, And Engineering Enterprises, Inc., dba Intermountain Aerial Surveys

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I: RULE 4(h) OF THE UTAH RULES OF CIVIL PROCEDURE

MAKES AMENDMENTS TO PROCESS OR PROOF OF SERVICE
A DISCRETIONARY MATTER.

The trial court's decision to permit the amendment of the Summons in this case was made pursuant to Rule 4(h) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure which specifies as follows:

At any time in its discretion and upon such terms as it deems just, the court may allow any process or proof of service thereof to be amended

Rule 4(h) places within the discretion of the court the determination of whether justice will be served by allowing the amendment. The intent of Rule 4(h) was discussed in the case of <u>Ballard v. Buist</u>, 8 Ut.2d 308, 333 P.2d 1071 (1959). The <u>Ballard</u> appeal was brought when the

defendant's Motion to Quash service of Summons and to dismiss the Complaint was granted by the District Court. In that case the action was commenced by a minor prior to the appointment of a guardian ad litem. The guardian ad litem then moved to amend the Summonses and Complaint to show the prosecution of the claim by the guardian. This court held that the District Court erred in quashing service on the grounds that the minor could not initiate the action and thus the District Court never obtained jurisdiction. The court reasoned that the technical error was a mere irregularity which could be cured by amendment, though the act of service, as characterized by defendant in this case, "was a completed act." Specifically, the court stated:

Although the court obtained jurisdiction when the Summonses were properly served, such Summonses were subject to a Motion to Quash because of the provisions of Rule 17(b) . . .

... However, the fact that a minor must appear by a guardian ad litem in a pending suit does not mean that process issued in initiating a suit by a minor makes such process void. It is a mere irregularity which can be cured by the appointment of a guardian ad litem and by amendment. 333 P.2d at 1073. (Emphasis added.)

Speaking concerning the court's discretion to allow amendments pursuant to Rule 4(h), the court further stated:

. . . The facts in the instant matter clearly require the allowance of the requested amendment so that the matter may be heard upon the merits. The amendments could prejudice none

of the parties, and could only tend to serve justice. To disallow the amendment was an abuse of discretion. It has always been the rule in this state to be liberal in the allowance of amendment to the end there can be a complete adjudication of the controversy upon the merits and so that justice may be served. 333 P.2d at 1074.

It is clear from the above-referred to case that this court takes the position that mere mistakes in the process do not make the process void but merely voidable and the subject of amendment to cure the defect.

The question of discretion exercised by a court of law has been addressed by this court and other courts on several occasions and it is undisputed in this jurisdiction that where a court is granted discretionary authority to perform a proposed action, that the reviewing court must allow considerable latitude in which the court below may exercise that judgment. Further, it is undisputed law in this jurisdiction that when a court has ruled on a discretionary matter that it shall not be reversed unless its actions are clearly found to be arbitrary. See <u>Carmen v. Slavens</u>, 546 P.2d 601 (1976); <u>Airkem International</u>, <u>Inc. v. Parker</u>, 513 P.2d 429 (Ut. 1973).

Many jurisdictions have made an attempt to define an appropriate test to determine when a court has abused its discretion. The majority of the cases have concluded that the appropriate test of abuse of discretion is whether the trial court exceeded bounds of reason and the judicial action is arbitrary, fanciful or unreasonable. Marriage of Connolly, 591 P.2d 911 (Cal. 1979); Trompeter v. Trompeter, 545 P.2d 297 (Kan. 1976). Other courts have attempted to refine the test further by indicating that judicial discretion is abused only when there is a finding that no reasonable man could take the same view adopted by the court below. Essentially these courts have held that if reasonable men could differ as to the propriety of the action taken by the court below, then it could not be said that the court has abused its discretion. State v. Wilkins, 556 P.2d 424 (Kan. 1976); Vickers v. Kansas City, 531 P.2d 113 (Kan. 1975); Spingola v. Spingola, 580 P.2d 958 (N.M. 1978).

Based upon the facts of this case, it would be impossible to conclude that the trial court exceeded the bounds of reason, considering all circumstances and facts before it. The fact that the Summons was served upon the defendant Skychoppers on August 8, 1978 and no Answer or Default Certificate was filed prior to defendant's Motion to Quash brought on April 7, 1980, some 20 months thereafter, is evidence that the action taken by the court below has produced the only equitable and just result available. The appellant's Motion could have been granted but was not after full consideration by the trial court. Accordingly, the trial court's decision should not be disturbed.

POINT II.: WHEN THE RETURN DAY OF PROCESS IS MISTAKENLY OR DEFECTIVELY STATED, IT DOES NOT RENDER THE PROCESS VOID BUT MERELY IRREGULAR AND MAY BE AMENDED.

The holding of this court in the <u>Ballard</u> case is also clearly applicable to the instant matter by analogy. Though <u>Ballard</u>, <u>supra</u>, concerned the defect in naming the proper plaintiff, the reasoning of the court's holding is clearly applicable in circumstances where the return day is erroneously or mistakenly stated. Again quoting from Ballard:

The Summonses served upon respondents fully informed them as to who the real party in interest is, the nature of the action, the name of the court in which they were to appear and the time within which to do so. No disadvantage accrued to them from the fact that the Summonses were brought in the minor appellant's name . . . 333 P.2d at 1073.

In the case before the court, the defect, which was cured by amendment, was a misstatement as to the time allowed for answering. All of the other elements espoused by the court in <u>Ballard</u> were present, i.e., the real parties in interest were named, the nature of the action was given, and the name of the court in which the parties were to respond was clearly stated.

A notable authority has commented in respect to this type of defect as follows:

No general rule can be laid down as to the effects of defects or informalities, with regards to the appearance or return day, in a Summons or a Notice of Commencement of an action in a court of record, because some defects are held to render a Summons absolutely void and to invalidate all subsequent proceedings in the action, while other defects are held to be simply irregular and

subject to amendment, and because the same defect is held in some jurisdictions to be fatal and others curable. It may be said, however, that in the majority of cases considering the fact that the return day of process is mistaken or defectively stated, the rule seems to be that it does not render the process void, but only voidable.

It seems generally agreed that a Summons which is returnable in fewer than the number of days provided by statute will be quashed on Motion, although in many cases the courts have held that a Summons returnable in less than the required time is merely irregular and may be amended or considered sufficient. 62 Am. Jur. 2d Process §14 at 796-797. (Emphasis added.)

The following authorities additionally support the proposition that the defect, though subject to a Motion to Quash, does not render the process void nor deprives the court of jurisdiction. See Flannery v. Kusha, 173 N.W. 652 (1919); Richmond and D. R. Company v. Benson, 12 S.E. 357 (Ga. 1890); Krueger v. Lynch, 48 N.W.2d 266 (1951); Lockway v. Modern Woodmen, 133 N.W. 398 (1911); T. A. Howard Lumber Company v. Hopson, 101 So. 363 (1924); Simmons v. Norfolk and B.S.B. Company, 18 S.E. 117 (1893); Barker Company v. Central West Investment Company, 105 N.W. 985 (1905); Gribbon v. Freel, 93 N.Y. 93 (1883); Spokane Merchants Associates v. Acord, 99 Wash. 674, 170 P. 329 (1918).

In the case of Lockway v. Modern Woodmen, supra, the Minnesota Court answered the question here presented. In that case, the Summons required the defendant to answer within 20 days instead of 30. The statute that was

applicable indicated that a Summons requiring less than 30 days for answering would not be valid or binding. Nevertheless, it was held that the Summons was subject to amendment to conform to the statute and defendant's Motion to Quash was properly denied.

The statute in which the appellant relies is §78-27-27, Utah Code Annotated (1953 as amended), which specifically precludes the entry of a default judgment prior to the expiration of at least 30 days following service of process. Respondent has found no authority which would mandate a conclusion that the above-referred to statute acts to void service which mistakenly indicates that the served party only has 20 days to respond. As is stated in a prior section, §78-27-22, Utah Code Annotated (1953):

The provisions of this act, to ensure maximum protection to the citizens of this state, should be applied so as to assert jurisdiction over non-resident defendants to the fullest expended extent propounded by due process clauses of the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution. The purpose of the jurisdictional provisions of that act dictate that the construction of the act should be made so that where at all possible, jurisdiction of the court can extend as it pertains to non-residents named as parties in actions instituted in the State of Utah. (Emphasis added.)

This is an unusual and important case; unusual because it does not involve the standard situation where the defendant has failed to file his Answer and a Default Judgment is obtained against him. It does not involve a

situation where the defendant was served with the improper wording in the Summons and promptly moves to have the service quashed or, if a judgment has been taken, to have that judgment set aside. It does not involve the situation where a defendant through inadvertence or mistake neglected to answer the Complaint served and a default judgment was taken. This case, however, is a case which involves a defendant who has participated in settlement negotiations for a period of time in excess of 20 months, and who never filed an Answer or moved to quash service of the Summons until after the time period had run for issuing a new Summons in this matter. This additionally involves a case in which the defendant has now chosen to appear only after 20 months to quash the service originally considered by all parties to be valid.

This case is important because it involves public policy arguments which if resolved in favor of the defendant Skychoppers of Colorado, would make a mockery of the judicial process and it would allow defendants to take advantage or procedural difficulties while at the same time inducing an adverse party's inaction to their detriment. If plaintiffs had not been induced into inaction on the Complaint, the error or mistake would have been discovered and corrected prior to the time that a new Summons could no longer be issued.

At first impression defendant's arguments have some appeal; however, upon introspection, that appeal is only cosmetic and only would represent a valid argument should the defect in the Summons be necessary to invalidate a Default Judgment against it. Defendant-appellant has analyzed its position not properly considering the realities of the situation. First the defendant-appellant has assumed that the irregularities of the process are jurisdictional and render the judgment void. The cases relied upon by the defendant-appellant on their face appear to support its However, a closer investigation indicates that proposition. the defendant's failure to make a timely Motion has caused the waiver of its rights to claim that the irregularities rendered the service of process void. None of the cases cited by the defendant-appellant is on all fours with this situation and can be distinguished either by the fact that the question presented to the courts does not include whether the defect constituted a void or voidable process and in addition, in almost every case, the question was presented under the circumstances where a Default Judgment was This case differs factually and equitably being contested. because no judgment or action was taken by plaintiff towards default and by the discretion of the court, process was amended.

Defendant-appellant's authorities simply do not hold that the defects rendered the service of no effect but even if they did, the defendant has waived any objection it might have by failing to timely file a Motion to Quash. In

cases where defaults have been taken based upon a defective Summons, which cases are more extreme than the instant case, this court has held that a Motion must be timely raised or it will be waived. Miller v. Ziegler, 3 Ut. 17, 5 P. 518 (1881). The court in Miller justified its position by stating:

Defendant should not be permitted to sit quietly by and seek judgment against him by default and then in the appellate court successfully ask that judgment be reversed for the reasons that there was no service. 5 P. at 520.

In that case, the court indicated that even where a judgment had been taken, if the Motion was not timely filed that the objection was waived. In this case, where the service did not result in a judgment, certainly the same position would be equally true. In all the cases cited by the defendant-appellant the defect was raised promptly and nowhere therein do any of the courts hold that the defect as claimed rendered the service or a judgment automatically void. On the contrary, a better reasoned approach is that such defect rendered the service and judgment voidable, unless amended, upon timely Motion. In the case of Thomas v. District Court of Third Judicial District in and for Salt Lake County, 171 P.2d 667 (1946), which case appears to be the principal case for this proposition in Utah, stresses this requirement of timeliness in such situations by holding that the service should be quashed "when timely attacked by

Motion." This reflects the view quoted by the court in Thomas in the paragraph immediately preceding its holdings that defective service, such as in the instant case, is voidable and will be avoided by a Motion to Quash if made by the defendant, but if not so avoided, a judgment rendered thereon by default need not be set aside when attacked for defects in the service. 171 P.2d at 677.

Rule 4(h) would be meaningless, if as defendantappellant contends, that such defects in the service made the process automatically void. There would be no need for the discretionary grant to the court to allow amendment of such process.

Defendant-appellant apparently relies heavily on the case of Martin v. Nelson, 533 P.2d 897 (1975), in which the court held service of process was defective because it required an Answer in 20 days instead of 30 days. Nowhere is it stated in that opinion or any other opinion found within the decisions of this court that such defect acts to void the process. It is admitted, by the amendment requested, that the process was defective in that it stated 20 days for answering instead of 30. The crucial question becomes whether the defect could be cured by amendment as is indicated in Rule 4(h). Plaintiff-respondent points to the arguments above and the case authorities cited for the proposition that process was cured by amendment and that defendant-appellant's Motion to Quash was properly denied.

POINT III.: DEFENDANT-APPELLANT WAS NOT MISLED OR DIS-ADVANTAGED BY THE MISTAKENLY STATED RETURN DAY AND THUS IS NOT ENTITLED TO THE RELIEF SOUGHT.

It is the general rule of law that the effect of misstating the return day depends to a considerable extent upon whether the defendant was misled to its disadvantage thereby. Flannery v. Kusha, supra; Spokane Merchant's Association v. Acord, supra; 62 Am.Jur.2d Process §15 at Defendant-appellants in their Brief and also in their Petition for Appeal have made no allegations that they were in any way misled to their disadvantage. In fact, they impliedly indicate that they were not aware of the defect until 20 months after the original service had been effected. All parties considered the process to be proper and sufficient and had through mutual agreement, contemplating settlement, not required the defendant Skychoppers of Colorado to answer or otherwise plead. The question left begging in these circumstances is just exactly how the defendant Skychoppers of Colorado was disadvantaged in these circumstances where no action toward default was ever taken. If anything, the plaintiffs-respondents would be the only parties who could complain of being misled to their dis-If in fact the defendant Skychoppers of Colorado advantage. did know of the defect and induced the plaintiff to not require that an answer be filed and thus the defect be discovered, then of course the defendant Skychoppers of Colorado would be equitably estopped in raising the defense to the process at this point in time. If on the other hand, the defendant Skychoppers of Colorado did not know of the defect or was not aware of the defect at the time, but still induced the plaintiffs into inaction, thus creating a situation where the defect was not discovered until after the time in which new process could be issued, then only the plaintiffs-respondents have been misled to their disadvantage and not the defendant in this matter. Accordingly, if there are any equities in this case at all, they lie in favor of the plaintiffs-respondents.

CONCLUSION

The Order entered by the court below is clearly supported by the case law and rules of procedure of this jurisdiction. Acting pursuant to discretionary power, the court ruled, based upon justice and equity, that the process served upon the defendant-appellant Skychoppers of Colorado was defective yet curable by amendment. There is no case law or any other authority which can contradict this position.

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